SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GALENCARE, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

JAMES E. BLANTON, et al.,

Respondents.

FILED SID , MILITE Case No. 83,659 JUN 22 1994 CLERK, SUPREMECOURT By_ Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Edward M. Waller, Jr. Florida Bar No. 106341 Charles Wachter Florida Bar No. 509418 Elizabeth A. Boland Florida Bar No. 912158 FOWLER, WHITE, GILLEN, BOGGS, VILLAREAL AND BANKER, P.A. Post Office Box 1438 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 228-7411 Attorneys for Petitioner GALENCARE, INC.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, sections 3(b)(3) and (4), Florida Constitution (1980) because the Second District Court of Appeal has certified its decision as being in direct conflict with Johnson v. Plantation General Hospital Limited Partnership, 621 So. 2d 551 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), rev'd, No. 82,237 (Fla. June 16, 1994); and Johnson v. NME Hospitals, Inc., 621 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), rev'd, No. 82,238 (Fla. June 16, 1994).¹ A. 14. This Court has jurisdiction of the entire appeal as a result of the certified conflict. Lee v. State, 501 So. 2d 591, 592 n.1 (Fla. 1987).

Although this Court reversed the <u>Plantation</u> and <u>NME</u> decisions on June 16, 1994, this Court still has jurisdiction to resolve all the issues on appeal, especially when the additional issues in this case will affect the outcome of the appeal.² <u>Cantor v. Davis</u>, 489 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1986); <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 1982); <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1982); <u>Bould v.</u> <u>Touchette</u>, 349 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1977); <u>Negron v. State</u>, 306 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 1974). As this Court stated in <u>Tyus v. Apalachicola</u> <u>Northern Railroad</u>, 130 So. 2d 580, 585 (Fla. 1961):

Since we have concluded that, on the face of the subject opinion of the District Court, it appears that there can be no doubt about the question of direct conflict . . . it becomes our **duty and responsibility** to consider the case on its merits and decide the points passed upon by

¹ Because the Index to the Record in the Second District has not been completed by the court, references to the record will be made by referring to the Appendix filed herewith as ("A. ___").

² In addition, this Court's June 16, 1994 rulings in the <u>Plantation</u> and <u>NME</u> cases are subject to motions for rehearing and are not final at this time.

the District Court which were raised by appropriate assignments of error as completely as though such case had come originally to this court on appeal. (Emphasis added.)

Further, as this Court ruled in <u>Bould v. Touchette</u>, 349 So. 2d 1181, 1183 (Fla. 1977):

Having taken jurisdiction because of a conflict as to one question of law, U.S. Concrete Pipe Company says we should consider no other questions involved in the appeal before the District Court, as these questions were not raised in Bould's petition for certiorari seeking jurisdiction. This contention is without merit. If conflict appears and this court acquires jurisdiction, we then proceed to consider the entire cause on the merits.

Because this Court has jurisdiction, it is appropriate to consider the entire appeal, including whether class certification was error. <u>Id.</u> The order certifying a class in this case should be reviewed "as though [this] case had come originally to this court on appeal." <u>Tyus</u>, 130 So. 2d at 585.

Review of the class certification order will have a definite effect on the outcome of the petition. If there is no valid class, there can be no aggregation of claims, and the circuit court does not have jurisdiction of this case. As Chief Justice Grimes wrote in his concurrence to the <u>Plantation</u> and <u>NME</u> opinion, "if it is ultimately determined that the cases cannot proceed as a class action, the circuit court will lose jurisdiction and the individual claims will have to be prosecuted in county court." Johnson V. <u>Plantation General Hospital Ltd. Partnership</u>, Case Nos. 82,237 & 82,238. A. 8. Thus, because certification was error, this case should be decided differently from <u>Plantation</u> and <u>NME</u>.

Because the issues of subject matter jurisdiction and class certification are intertwined and the appeal presents questions of great importance to Florida courts, as well as Florida's health care providers and recipients, this Court should decide the entire appeal. A decision by this Court will also clarify the proper bounds of <u>Lanca Homeowners, Inc. v. Lantana Cascade of Palm Beach, Ltd.</u>, 541 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 1988), <u>cert. denied</u>, 493 U.S. 964, 107 L. Ed. 2d 371, 100 S. Ct. 405 (1989), the sole decision relied on by the circuit court in certifying this class. Now that this Court has ruled that appropriate class actions may be brought in circuit court, it is necessary to lay down appropriate criteria for class certification in this case so as to prevent the further waste of judicial resources and litigation expenses on remand.³

³ <u>Plantation</u>, <u>NME</u>, <u>Galen of Florida</u>, <u>Inc. v. Arscott</u>, Case No. 82,966, and this case are four of eight purported class actions against hospitals around the State brought by the same lawyers, containing virtually identical claims.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a suit by two plaintiffs (respondents), individually and on behalf of a purported class, against Galencare, Inc., d/b/a Brandon Hospital ("the hospital") (petitioner). The suit alleges claims of breach of contract (Count I), money had and received (Count II), and unjust enrichment (Count III), all based on alleged "imposition." A. 73-115. The plaintiffs allege that even though they signed written agreements to pay the hospital's prevailing rates, and were charged according to the hospital's prevailing rates, the itemized charges for pharmaceuticals, medical supplies, and laboratory services were somehow the result of improper "imposition" by the hospital. A. 73-96.

James E. Blanton and Sharonlee Pimental are the current named plaintiffs. A. 73. Both Pimental and Blanton became plaintiffs in this lawsuit by answering a newspaper advertisement placed by plaintiffs' counsel asking, "Was Your Hospital Bill At Humana Brandon Hospital Unreasonably High?" A. 332. The advertisement sought people to sue Brandon Hospital.

<u>Pimental</u>

Sharonlee Pimental was treated as an outpatient in the emergency room of the hospital on May 28, 1992 for unspecified abdominal pain. A. 190, 381-91. Earlier that day, she went to her regular physician's office and was examined by Dr. Holly Williams. A. 190. The doctor could not determine what was wrong so she recommended that Pimental go to the Brandon Hospital emergency room. A. 190-91. Pimental took with her a sheet with Dr.

Williams's notes. Pimental claims that Dr. Williams sent her to the emergency room for limited specified testing. A. 191-92. Pimental also claims that the sheet of notes contained a list of specific tests ordered by Dr. Williams to be conducted at the hospital. A. 191-92. Pimental's main complaint about her visit is that, in her view, the tests performed by the hospital other than those allegedly ordered by Dr. Williams were unnecessary. A. 192-93. However, nothing in Pimental's records, which include a copy of Dr. Williams's notes, indicates that she was admitted for specific tests only. A. 381-91.

In connection with her treatment, Pimental signed a Condition of Admission agreement in which she guaranteed to pay the hospital's charges at the prevailing rates. A. 383. Pimental gave the hospital \$50.00 as a deposit towards her bill. A. 201, 387. Pimental was treated in the emergency room as an outpatient, given a number of tests, and returned home the same evening. A. 381-91. After Pimental returned home, she received a detailed statement of charges totalling \$1,857.80, primarily covering the battery of tests required to diagnose her abdominal pain. Α. 381-85. Pimental discussed a payment plan with the hospital, but the hospital wanted a plan in which Pimental would pay a specific amount per month, not whatever amount Pimental decided to pay in any given month. A. 201-03. Pimental refused to agree to send the hospital any fixed amount on a monthly basis, and has paid nothing for her treatment, aside from the initial \$50.00 deposit. A. 387.

<u>Blanton</u>

James Blanton was treated by the hospital on June 11, 1992 for a broken arm resulting from a car accident on June 6, 1992 in the State of Washington. A. 160-61; 352-80. At the time of the accident, Blanton was taken to the Fork Community Hospital in Washington but returned to Tampa to have his arm set. A. 161. Upon his return, he contacted Dr. Thomas Davison, who had previously treated his mother for a broken knee. A. 161. Earlier on the day of his admission, Blanton went through the admissions process, during which he was given a copy of the hospital's Conditions of Admission agreement for his review. A. 162. Blanton signed the agreement and agreed to pay the hospital's charges at the prevailing rates. A. 162, 354.

Blanton, who was concerned about hospital costs prior to his visit to Brandon Hospital, asked for an estimate at Fork Community Hospital in Washington. A. 164. He also knew he could get a firm estimate for the procedure at Lakeland Regional and the Watson Clinic in Lakeland, where he had been treated many times. A. 164-67. When the "poor little receiving clerk" at Brandon could not give him an estimate on the spot, he decided not to ask her to follow up or find out for him. A. 168, 173.

Blanton was aware of newspaper comparisons of hospital costs prior to his admission, including costs at Brandon Hospital and believed at the time that the rates at Brandon Hospital were the highest in the county. A. 168-70. He also knew, however, that hospitals would accept less than full payment in certain instances

because he had been mistakenly billed as a Medicare patient by Lakeland Regional and the hospital agreed to accept the lower Medicare payment amount as payment in full. A. 173-75. Blanton testified that he did not object to paying somewhat more for hospital treatment to help provide for those without insurance or those on Medicare. A. 175.

After returning home Blanton received a detailed statement of charges totaling \$5,740.16. A. 357-68. He discussed the charges with his insurance company and the Florida Health Care Cost Containment Board ("HCCB"), which offered to send him complaint forms. A. 175-76. Blanton declined to follow up or make a formal complaint to the hospital about the charges. A. 176. Ultimately Blanton's insurance paid its portion of the charges and Blanton paid his co-payment. A. 178; 370-72.

The hospital has raised defenses to the plaintiffs' claims, including voluntary consent to pay the prevailing rates. A. 120-26. The hospital has also raised the defense of course of dealing as to purported class members who are repeat patients, or who have health insurance through companies who have agreed to the reasonableness of the hospital's charges. A. 120-26. The hospital has raised the defenses of voluntary payment, estoppel, waiver, and the failure to allege imposition at the time of payment.⁴ A. 120-26.

⁴ In the virtually identical case of <u>Payne v. Humana</u> <u>Hospital Orange Park</u>, Case No. 92-424-CA (Fla. 4th Jud. Cir. Aug. 20, 1993), the circuit court dismissed the claims based on the failure to allege a "sufficient basis to bring an action for implied contract of reasonableness, for imposition [and] money had and received." A. 466-67.

In response to the alleged imposition argument of the plaintiffs, the hospital has demonstrated that Blanton had a variety of meaningful choices, including the choice to receive treatment at nearby Lakeland Regional, Tampa General Hospital, or University Community Hospital, yet he voluntarily chose Brandon Hospital. A. 170-173.

Plaintiffs have failed to allege that their individual claims satisfy the jurisdictional requirement of circuit court. A. 74. Instead, they allege that the overall class "claim" exceeds the requirement. <u>Id.</u>

On June 14, 1993, the circuit court in Hillsborough County, although finding that common questions did not predominate over individual questions, reluctantly certified a class in reliance on this Court's decision in Lanca Homeowners, Inc. v. Lantana Cascade of Palm Beach, Ltd., 541 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 1988). A. 15-61. The hospital appealed. A. 145. On December 17, 1993, the Second District issued a per curiam affirmance without opinion. A. 11. On January 3, 1994, the hospital filed a Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing en banc, and/or Motion to Certify Question and Conflict on the issue of subject matter jurisdiction, given the recent action of this Court in accepting the Plantation and NME cases. On April 29, 1994, the Second District granted the hospital's motion in part and substituted an opinion for the per curiam affirmance. Α. 12-14. In its opinion, the Second District stated that plaintiffs were permitted to aggregate their claims for damages to establish jurisdiction in the circuit court. Id. The Second

District, recognizing the conflict between its decision and those of the Fourth District, certified the conflict to this Court. <u>Id.</u> The hospital timely filed its notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction. A. 146-154. This Court has deferred its decision on jurisdiction but has ordered briefing on the merits. A. 1.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Even though this Court has decided to allow aggregation in theory, the Court should reverse the Second District Court of Appeal because class certification was error. As a result, this case is simply one brought by two individuals, not a class. Accordingly, this particular case belongs in county court.

The purpose of a class action is to decide in a single proceeding all the claims that affect all class members. That purpose cannot be fulfilled when individual issues and defenses predominate over common questions. There is no benefit from a class action when each claim will have to be decided on a case by Certification of a class in this case was error case basis. because the circuit court expressly found that common questions did not predominate over individual questions, as required by Rule 1.220(b)(3), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. The circuit court found that the question of "imposition" and the defenses of voluntary payment (and others) would have to be decided on a case by case basis. Unlike the issue in Lanca Homeowners, Inc. v. Lantana Cascade, 541 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 964, 107 L. Ed. 2d 371, 100 S. Ct. 405 (1989), this Court has

ruled that "imposition" depends on the circumstances of each case. <u>Southern States Power Co. v. Ivey</u>, 160 So. 46, 47 (Fla. 1935). Thus, there can be no justification for class action treatment of these claims.

Reliance by the circuit court on Lanca was misplaced because Lanca is limited to the mobile home park setting in which the unilateral act of the defendant was the only real issue in the case and the plaintiff class was a discrete residential group with a unified interest. In Lanca, their only choice was to pay the prospective rent increase or be forced to move. In contrast, this case involves a disparate group of individuals who have a wide choice of hospitals and outpatient health care options. A. 456-63. No one has been refused treatment for lack of payment. The hospital does not even send a bill until well after the individual has been discharged and returned home. At that point the individual has the choice of paying the bill or challenging the charges. Even if the hospital threatens to sue to collect a debt, that does not constitute duress or deprive an individual of his right to choose to pay the debt, question the charges, defend a lawsuit or bring a lawsuit himself.

Also, in this case, the claims of the plaintiffs focus on the allegation of "imposition" and the defenses focus on the knowledge, choice, and voluntary payment of each individual. At the certification hearing, the hospital introduced evidence of the choices patients have regarding health care and hospitals in the form of widely publicized comparisons of hospital rates done by the HCCB

and by various newspapers. A. 408-56. The hospital specifically demonstrated the different levels of knowledge and choice among the class members. For instance, some patients, such as Blanton, came to the hospital as sophisticated health care consumers with knowledge of the charges. Others, such as Pimental, were directed to the emergency room by their primary physician. Almost half of the purported class members had been patients at this hospital on prior occasions. A. 333. For a large number of class members, the hospital accepted less than payment in full and has offered a prompt pay discount. A. 278, 279, 334-37, 344-50.

This Court should correct the erroneous ruling below and prevent the extension of <u>Lanca</u> to cases far beyond its scope. The individual issues of knowledge and choice make this case much more like the fraud cases decided by this Court in which class certification has been substantially restricted. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Lance v.</u> <u>Wade</u>, 457 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 1984).

Undisputed evidence at the class certification hearing also demonstrated that a class action in this case would be unmanageable. The evidence showed that the hospital had separate charges for over 7,000 different drugs, supply items, and lab tests. A. 309. The evidence further showed that there was no uniform mark up for each of these items, and that they were all priced differently based on factors that varied from item to item. A. 309-316. The hospital also demonstrated that the prices for each of these items changed from year to year during the relevant time frame. A. 310. Each time the price changed, the percentage of

mark up over direct cost was affected. A. 309-316. Because there was no evidence of any uniform mark up, surcharge, or fee that could have applied across the board to drugs, supplies, and lab tests, a jury would have to reprice each of the 7,000 items during the relevant time frame to determine a "reasonable" price. Such a task would be unmanageable and would not be an effective use of the judicial system.

The hospital also demonstrated through the proffered testimony of Dr. Hugh Long that there are substantial conflicts within the class since many of the proposed class members have benefitted from the hospital's current practice. A. 225-39. Because of the lack of manageability and the existence of conflicts within the class, the purpose of the class action procedure would be frustrated if certification was required in this case.

ARGUMENT

I. THESE PLAINTIFFS SHOULD NOT BE ALLOWED TO CREATE CIRCUIT COURT JURISDICTION BY AGGREGATING SEPARATE CLAIMS OF AN INVALID CLASS.

This Court has ruled that aggregation of claims of alleged absent class members is permissible "as long as the procedural and legal requirements for the class are satisfied." Johnson v. Plantation General Hospital, Nos. 82,237 & 82,238, slip op. at 5 (Fla. June 16, 1994). A. 7. The hospital respectfully disagrees with the concept of aggregation to meet circuit court jurisdiction and refers the Court to the argument submitted by undersigned counsel on behalf of the Daytona Medical Center in Galen v. Arscott, Case No. 82,966, currently pending in this Court. However, given this Court's ruling, it is still true that circuit court jurisdiction is improper in this case because "the procedural and legal requirements for the class" have not been satisfied. As Chief Justice Grimes wrote in concurring in the Court's recent decision, "if it is ultimately determined that the cases cannot proceed as a class action, the circuit court will lose jurisdiction and the individual claims will have to be prosecuted in county court." Johnson, slip op. at 6. A. 8. Because this case should not proceed as a class action, this Court should quash the Second District's decision and remand with instructions that the trial court certification order be vacated.

II. CLASS CERTIFICATION SHOULD BE REVERSED BECAUSE COMMON QUESTIONS DO NOT PREDOMINATE AND A CLASS ACTION UNDER THESE CIRCUMSTANCES WOULD SERVE NO USEFUL PURPOSE.

A. When Individual Questions Relating To Liability And Defenses Predominate Over Common Questions, A Class Should Not Be Certified.

Class action plaintiffs must carry two separate burdens in order to certify a class. **First**, plaintiffs must establish all four of the prerequisites of Rule 1.220(a): (1) numerosity, (2) commonality, (3) typicality, and (4) adequacy of representation. **Second**, plaintiffs must establish one of the elements of Rule 1.220(b)((1)-(3). The plaintiffs in this case are proceeding under Rule 1.220(b)(3):

(3) questions of law or fact common to the claim or defense of the representative party and the claim or defense of each member of the class predominate over any questions of law or fact affecting only individual members of the class, and class representation is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.

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