FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AUG 81 1994

GALENCARE, INC., etc.,

Petitioner,

-vs-

JAMES E. BLANTON, and all others similarly situated --- the Class,

Respondent.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO: 583, 659 Chief Deputy Clerk

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, 2ND DISTRICT-NO. 93-02409

CLASS REPRESENTATION

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Stephen A. Scott, Esq. Florida Bar No. 140979 LAW OFFICES OF STEPHEN A. SCOTT Post Office Box 2218 Gainesville, FL 32602-2218 (904) 378-3056

Herbert T. Schwartz, Esq. Florida Bar No. 100248
SULLINS, JOHNSTON,
ROHRBACH & MAGERS
3701 Kirby Dr., Suite 1200
Houston, TX 77098
(713) 521-0221

Attorneys for Respondent and Class

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

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The purpose of the class action is the collective treatment of the 80,000 (plus) grievances of these patients as a single wrong -- and not the treatment of multiple wrongs individually. By the adjudication of multiple wrongs through a single action, Humana's jeopardy for overcharging patients \$100 each becomes much greater. By overcharging patients \$100 each on their respective bills over five years, and by having to answer for such conduct in a single action in court, a powerful incentive is created for Humana to refrain from just the sort of business conduct alleged in the instant complaint. Public policy supports this incentive and its application here.

The use of a single action to adjudicate many small, individual claims (probably not worth pursuing individually) as a unitary claim is not new or revolutionary. That beneficial theory was recognized as having judicial and public value long ago.<sup>2</sup>

The economy of judicial labor and resources is a natural consequence of the class action device. Those benefits have met with favor and hospitality by this Court. The instant class, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A class suit may be seen as a mass production remedy for mass production wrongs. Geoffrey C. Hazard, "The Effect of the Class Action Device on Substantive Law", 58 F.R.D. 307, 308 (1973).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Joseph Story, "Commentaries on Equity Pleading" (2d Ed. Boston 1839). The Supreme Court later recognized the same in Equity Rule 48, 42 U.S. 1 (1 How.) (1843).

that in all consumer class actions, is comprised of individuals. In this case, private pay and "charge-based" patients of Humana. Each class member has a viable claim against Humana as a victim of the defendant hospital's systematic overcharging imposed upon them for pharmaceuticals, supplies and laboratory tests.

In a 1985 case the Supreme Court of the United States recognized the theory which underlies the opinions of all the trial and appellate courts (including this Court), that the class action rule contemplates many potential plaintiffs with small claims joining together to litigate their theory of redress.

Modern plaintiff class actions follow the same goals, permitting litigation of a suit involving common questions when there are too many plaintiffs for proper joinder. Class actions also may permit the plaintiffs to pool claims which would be uneconomical to litigate individually. For example, this lawsuit involves claims averaging about \$100 per plaintiff; most of the plaintiffs would have no realistic day in court if a class action were not available. (Emphasis added.)

Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Shutts, 472 U.S. 797, 810, 105 S.Ct. 2965, 2973 (1985).

Humana's arguments against certification of the instant class show a fundamental misunderstanding of the purpose of and the mechanisms available to the class action. The hospital's essential argument is that the instant matter is unmanageable as a class action because "individualized circumstances" affect each class member. The most apt refutation of this argument appears in *In re Domestic Air Transportation Antitrust Litigation*, 137 F.R.D. 677 (N.D. Ga. 1991). In that case, the defendants had made a similar

argument that the case was unmanageable as a class action because of the many individualized circumstances extant in over 400 million airline ticket transactions involved in the suit. The court rejected this argument, held that calculation of individual damages for class members did not make the class unmanageable as a class action, and approved certification of the class. If a case involving over 400 million different transactions is manageable and appropriately certified as a class action, then the present case is manageable and appropriately certified as a class action. The many different transactions in the present case do not detract from commonality, adequacy or manageability, all of which were present in the *Domestic Air Transportation* case and the case at bar.

In the instant action, the trial court certified a class comprised of certain patients admitted to the defendant hospital within the applicable statute of limitation period. The Second District affirmed per curiam. The allegations of the operative complaint describe a recurrent, systematic, designed imposing unreasonable charges, institutionalized system of amounting to gross overcharges for tangible products and laboratory services sold to patients by the hospital. Irrespective of the individual products sold to each patient or the specific laboratory services for which any given patient was charged, the nature of the contractual breach of implied reasonableness is the same for each patient/class member.

The trial court's certification of the patient class was proper. The hospital's argument that commonality and typicality

are destroyed by the nature of the class and the defendant's delivery of hospital services is without merit. Commonality among the class of patients as to the effect of Humana's wrongful conduct and the typicality of their individual claims (if pursued separately) validates the actions of the trial and appellate courts.

Humana's assaults on the commonality, typicality and manageability of this class action are those employed by <u>every</u> defendant in <u>every</u> class case.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE ISSUE OF JURISDICTION BEING BASED UPON THE TOTAL CLAIM OF THE CLASS HAS BEEN AUTHORITATIVELY DECIDED BY THIS COURT IN FAVOR OF PERMITTING AGGREGATION OF CLASS CLAIMS IN ORDER TO MEET THE CIRCUIT COURT'S JURISDICTIONAL THRESHOLD

Humana no doubt disagrees with this Court's decision and Opinion in *Plantation General Hospital v. Johnson*, Case No. 82,237, and its companion case of *NME Hospitals*, *Inc. v. Johnson*, Case No. 82,238, June 16, 1994 (App. Tab 4), reh. den., August 11, 1994 (App. Tab 5). That notwithstanding, the issue upon which those cases found its way to the Supreme Court (aggregation of class claims) has been resolved and is the governing law in Florida.

Thus, class counsel simply cites to this Court's opinion of June 16, 1994 as the authority adverse to Humana's contrary assertions regarding circuit court jurisdiction.

# II. THE DEFENSE OF VOLUNTARY PAYMENT IS NOT APPLICABLE TO THE CLASS CLAIMS AND CAUSES OF ACTION

Maintaining its consistency of thesis (that is, obliviousness to all the known facts and applicable law), Humana recurrently raises the flag of voluntary payment to this Court as it has to every court below. Just as consistently that flag has been saluted by no court and rejected by all.<sup>3</sup>

The doctrine of voluntary payment has no application to the present case. It is well established that a suit for money had and received lies whenever money has been paid which, in justice and fairness, the defendant ought to refund. See, Moss v. Conduit, supra; see also, Deco Purchasing & Distribution Co. v. Panzirer, 450 So.2d 1274 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) (wherein the court equates an action for "money had and received" with "restitution" and confirms that such an action may be maintained whenever one has money in his hands he received from another which in equity and good conscience he ought to pay over to that other). It is likewise well established that an action on a contract implied by law may be maintained when there has been "imposition" or "an advantage" taken of the payor's situation that is contrary to law and good conscience. See, e.g., Cullen v. Seaboard Air Line R. Co., supra at 184. In Cullen, a case involving excess freight charges collected by the defendant freight company, the Florida

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Humana raised this same "voluntary payment" argument to this Court in Galen of Florida, Inc., etc. v. Ansell R. Arscott, et al., etc., Supreme Court case No. 82,966, rev. denied, July 1, 1994 (see also, Case No. 82,896) (App. Tabs 6 & 7). A similar summary rejection is appropriate in the instant case.

Supreme Court recited the elements of the common law count for money had and received:

A common count for money payable to the plaintiff for money had and received by the defendant for the use of the plaintiff is applicable in all cases where the defendant has obtained money which ex aequo et bono he ought to refund. This action to recover money which ought not in justice to be kept lies for money paid by mistake or upon consideration which has failed, or for money obtained through imposition, express or implied, or extortion or oppression, or an unfair advantage taken of the plaintiff's situation, contrary to laws made for the protection of persons under these circumstances. The gist of the action is that the defendant upon the circumstances of the case is obligated by the ties of natural justice to refund the money.

Id. (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The Cullen court also expressly stated that, in an action for money had and received, it is not necessary to allege that the plaintiff paid the charges involuntarily. Since the very essence of the action is to recover money that has been paid, Cullen illustrates that the initial payment of the money cannot constitute a defense.

The Florida Supreme Court has made it clear, moreover, that charging an unreasonable price constitutes an "imposition" for purposes of an action on an implied contract to recover money. In Southern States Power Co. v. Ivey, supra, this Court stated:

Where a person taking advantage of his position, or the circumstances in which another is placed, exacts a greater price for services rendered than is fair and reasonable, where such a compensation only is allowable, the exaction of the unreasonable price for the service rendered may be said to be an imposition.... Such an imposition would

support an action of assumpsit for money received.... Southern States Power Co. v. Ivey, 118 Fla. 756, 160 So. 46, 50 (1935).

See also, 11 Fla. Jur. 2d Contracts §246 (1979) (although action of assumpsit has been abolished, an action upon a contract implied in law is equitable in nature and as such is favored by the courts), citing, e.g., Hawkins v. Garrison, 97 Fla. 156, 120 So. 309 (1929).

The Florida Supreme Court has recognized that "imposition" or "undue advantage" exists when the defendant has exacted a greater price from the plaintiff than that which is fair and reasonable. In such situations, as alleged in the present case, an action on an implied contract is appropriate. Accordingly, the rule barring recovery of payments which were voluntarily made does not apply.

Humana's focus upon what the class members did (pay their hospital bill) is an interesting attempt at a feat of legal legerdemain. It is clear, indeed axiomatic, that payments by class members of their hospital bills were "voluntary". This is not an action based upon fraud, duress or coercion, where the voluntary nature of a payment may rise to the level of a defense. This, like all of the companion class cases now pending, is based upon the rule of "imposition" long ago enunciated and sustained by this Court in Cullen, Moss and Southern States Power, supra. Thus, while class members' payments were voluntary, that fact is a classic non sequitur.

It is inconsistent with law and logic that voluntary payment should be a criterion in an action specifically premised on

overcharges resulting in overpayments. Humana's raising of voluntary payment as an affirmative defense would properly be subject to a motion to strike based on its inapplicability to a claim based on implied contract and the cited case law authorities.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CERTIFIED THE CLASS
AND THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
CORRECTLY AFFIRMED PER CURIAM THE TRIAL COURT'S
GRANTING OF THE CLASS' MOTION FOR CERTIFICATION

## THE PURPOSE AND NATURE OF THE CLASS ACTION

The very purpose of a class action suit is

to save a multiplicity of suits, to reduce the expenses of litigation, to make legal processes more effective and expeditious, and to make available a remedy that would not otherwise exist.

Tenney v. City of Miami Beach, 152 Fla. 126, 11 So.2d 188 (1942).

The requirements for class action complaints are set forth in Rule 1.220 of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. In 1980, Rule 1.220 was completely revised, based on Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. See, Powell v. River Ranch Property Owners Association, Inc., 522 So.2d 69, 70 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), cert. den., 531 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 1988). Florida courts generally follow the federal construction and application of this rule. See, also, Lance v. Wade, 457 So.2d 1008, 1011, n.2 (Fla. 1984) (reasserting that Florida's class action rule is based on federal class actions and cases).

Recently, the Florida Second District Court of Appeal reviewed the requirements for a class action complaint in Estate of Bobinger

v. Deltona Corp., 563 So.2d 739 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). The court stated:

Generally, the plaintiff must allege the existence of a class, demonstrate that the four prerequisites specified in Rule 1.220(a) are satisfied and that the action meets the criteria for one of the three types of class actions defined in Rule. 1.220(b). The rule also requires the pleader to define the alleged class and specify the approximate number of class members. The four prerequisites of subsection (a) of the rule are usually referred to as the principles of numerosity, commonality, typicality and adequacy.

See, id. at 742 (citations omitted).

A complaint in a class action suit must allege the existence of a class, which must be described with some degree of certainty. See, Harrell v. Hess Oil & Chemical Corp., 287 So.2d 291, 294 (Fla. 1973). Judge Lazzara found that there exists a distinct class of persons who can be clearly and certainly identified.

The specific class established at the certification hearing consists of all persons who were in-patients at the defendant hospital, or treated by the hospital as out-patients, during the applicable period; and who have signed agreements to pay or guarantee payment, and who have been presented with a bill upon discharge containing charges for items of medical supplies, laboratory services and pharmaceuticals incident to that treatment or hospitalization. The patient charges material to this action relate to those for medical supplies, laboratory services and pharmaceuticals based upon any standard schedule or price list which was used for the purpose of billing members of the class.

The members of this class are those who have either paid or caused to be paid in full or in part the amount set forth on their bills, or who are alleged by the defendant to be obligated to pay some or all of the outstanding balance of their bills.

## EXCLUDED FROM THE CLASS ARE THE FOLLOWING:

- (a) Medicaid patients;
- (b) Indigent or poverty-line patients whose care has been or will be paid for in full by a governmental entity, and who neither paid nor owe anything further;
- (c) Patients whose care will be or has been paid for under the terms of hospital and insurer, or other third-party payor, negotiated prospective payment agreements pursuant to Chapter 407, Florida Statutes, and the patients neither paid nor owe anything more than their insurance policy-stated percentage (co-payment), or percentage by agreement with another third-party payor, of the prospective payment agreement amounts pursuant to Florida Statutes, Chapter 407; and
- (d) Medicare patients whose care has or would be fully paid for with amounts that are within governmental authorized allowances for the respective diagnostic-related group ("DRG") treatments.

## THE CLASS, AS CERTIFIED, CONSISTS OF:

- (a) Those patients who have paid or caused to be paid in full or in part the amount set forth on their bills; and
- (b) Those patients who have not paid or caused to be paid the full amount set forth on their bills and who are alleged

by the Defendant to be obligated to pay the outstanding balance of their bills, and who thus have a cause of action in declaratory relief.

Those class members whose bills have been only partially paid and are alleged to be obligated to pay additional amounts are within the class and have available to them all causes of action alleged herein. The class representatives have at least one of these causes of action in common with all class members. Judge Lazzara's Order certifying the class describes with certainty a distinct class of similarly situated persons for whom class representation is appropriate. See also, Gomez v. Illinois State Board of Education, 117 F.R.D. 394 (N.D. Ill. 1987) (under federal rule an identifiable class also exists if its members can be ascertained by reference to objective criteria).

#### NUMEROSITY

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